STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

SEP 15 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DENNIS ELVIN CERVANTES-PAVON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002472

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Susan B. Hackett
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in denying Appellant's request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed the deceased was the initial aggressor, Appellant was in reasonable fear of imminent death or great bodily harm, and because Appellant was in his place of business, he had no duty to retreat, but could meet force with force?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 10, 2015, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2015-GS-10-418). R. 391-392. The state, represented by Bruce Durant, called the case to trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury on November 9-13, 2015. R. 1. Christina D. Parnall and Charles Cochran represented Appellant. R. 1. Prior to trial, Appellant moved for the court to find him immune from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. R. 375-376; R. 8, ll. 6-20. After a hearing on the motion, Judge Harrington denied Appellant's request for immunity. R. 72, l. 1 – R. 73, l. 5. Thereafter, the case proceeded to a jury trial. At the conclusion of the evidence, Judge Harrington charged the jury with murder, voluntary manslaughter, and self-defense. R. 353, l. 20 – R. 368, l. 12. During their deliberations, the jury asked numerous questions, including a request for an “explanation of the charges,” to see a video again, and to take an overnight break. R. 369, l. 10 – R. 370, l. 19; R. 371, l. 4 – R. 372, l. 16; R. 377-380. Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty of murder. R. 373, ll. 5-9. Judge Harrington sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment. R. 131, ll. 20-23; R. 386.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In August of 2014, the Belk Department Store in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina, was undergoing remodeling of its women's store. R. 208, ll. 15-18. Frisch and Associates was the lead contractor on the job. R. 208, ll. 10-18. Short on labor, Frisch and Associates subbed out some of the work. R. 209, ll. 9-13. C.D. Contractors out of Richmond, Virginia, was one of the sub-contracting companies. R. 209, ll. 2-12. Appellant and Raymond Muniz worked for C.D. Contractors and traveled to South Carolina for the work. R. 208, l. 19 – R. 209, l. 3. Problems soon developed between Appellant and Muniz.¹

During the early part of August, Appellant was cleaning an area at work with a broom. R. 294, ll. 1-4. As he was sweeping, Muniz snatched the broom from him. R. 294, ll. 5-6. When Appellant went to complain to the boss, the office was empty. R. 294, ll. 10-14. When Muniz realized what Appellant was doing, he checked to ensure there were no security cameras in the area. R. 294, ll. 14-15. Seeing no cameras, Muniz began to physically assault Appellant. R. 294, ll. 15-18.

During the evening, on August 12, 2015, Muniz accosted Petitioner at the hotel where the C.D. Contractors employees were staying. R. 296, ll. 1-14. Muniz removed his shirt and tried to fight Appellant. R. 296, ll. 11-14. Appellant moved away to avoid the confrontation. R. 296, ll. 11-14. In light of these incidents, Muniz's much larger size and greater strength, and Muniz's campaign of harassment, Appellant was terrified. R. 296, l. 18 – R. 297, l. 2.

¹ Raymond Muniz confided in his friend and co-worker, Travis Flowers, that there was bad blood between Appellant and Muniz. R. 118, ll. 16-20.

Around 9 a.m., on August 13, 2014, Travis Flowers, Muniz's good friend at work, approached Appellant and threatened him. R. 296, ll. 1-8.² At lunch, Flowers and Muniz threatened Appellant at the entrance. R. 299, l. 25 – R. 300, l. 3. Shortly after 1 p.m., Appellant went to his boss, Herbie Evans, to report his problems with Muniz. R. 210, l. 5 – R. 211, l. 7; R. 299, ll. 4-17. Evans spoke to Appellant and Muniz to explain he would not tolerate conflict at the jobsite and warned of termination if the problems continued. R. 210, l. 14 – R. 210, l. 4.

At the end of the work day, Appellant climbed down from the ladder where he was framing a wall. R. 297, ll. 19-24. In light of Muniz's threats and the fact that Muniz had a large piece of metal in his hands, Appellant picked up a pipe for protection.³ R. 298, ll. 1-4; R. 302, ll. 4-8.⁴ Appellant was terrified. R. 299, ll. 19-22. As Appellant walked by Muniz, which was necessary in order for him to get his tools and to leave the building, Muniz swung the metal at him twice, striking him. R. 298, ll. 5-6; R. 299, l. 23 – R. 300, l. 5; Defendant's Exhibit #1; Defendant's Exhibit #2. Muniz knocked the pipe from Appellant's hand. R. 302, ll. 9-15.⁵

² According to Flowers, he confronted Appellant around noon to ask if he were talking trash about him in Spanish because Muniz had informed him that Appellant was doing so. Appellant denied saying anything about Flowers and told him he had no problems with him. R. 120, l. 12 – R. 121, l. 8.

³ Appellant picking up the pipe for protection was confirmed by the testimony of Jeremiah Oxendine who described Appellant as dragging the pipe behind him as he walked near Muniz. R. 164, ll. 1-16.

⁴ Flowers claimed that Appellant picked up a sprinkler pipe and walked toward Muniz, who picked up a hammer. R. 122, l. 12 – R. 123, l. 9. However, Appellant stopped, returned to his work station. R. 122, ll. 16-17. Appellant then removed his tool belt, picked up his keyhole saw, and "stuck it in his right side in between his pants and skin. Then he put his shirt over it." R. 123, ll. 12-22. Appellant picked up the sprinkler pipe again and moved toward Muniz. R. 123, ll. 23-24. According to Flowers, Appellant swung the pipe twice, but Muniz blocked it with a piece of metal. R. 123, l. 25.

⁵ Flowers said Muniz pinned the sprinkler pipe to the ground. R. 124, ll. 4-6.

Muniz then began to assault him. R. 298, ll. 6-8; R. 302, ll. 16-19. Muniz was holding Appellant with one arm and punching him with the other. R. 298, ll. 9-12; R. 312, ll. 9-13.⁶ Due to the way Muniz was holding him, Appellant could barely breathe – he was being choked. R. 298, ll. 13-14; R. 312, ll. 2-4. Each time Muniz struck Appellant, his grip tightened. R. 298, l. 14; R. 302, ll. 20-23. Having no other option, Appellant pulled out his saw and stabbed Muniz once. R. 298, ll. 14-16; R. 303, ll. 3-9; R. 312, ll. 14-15.

Muniz ran from the building, down the sidewalk, and around the corner until finally stopping on a patch of grass. ~~R. 88, l. 20 – R. 89, l. 1; R. 167, l. 1-12.~~ Fearing retaliation by Muniz's friend, Appellant left the area. R. 312, ll. 21-25. Appellant left with the small saw in his hands, but threw it away while he was walking. R. 313, ll. 1-8.⁷ Muniz died at the scene. R. 89, l. 24 – R. 90, l. 2.

⁶ Flowers also testified that Muniz punched Appellant in the face a couple of times. R. 124, ll. 6-7.

⁷ The police never found the keyhole saw. R. 107, l. 24.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed the deceased was the initial aggressor, Appellant was in reasonable fear of imminent death or great bodily harm, and because Appellant was in his place of business, he had no duty to retreat, but could meet force with force.

Relevant facts

~~Prior to trial, Appellant moved for a pre-trial hearing to determine whether he was~~ entitled to immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act (hereinafter, the "Act"). R. 375-376. After selecting a jury, the judge entertained Appellant's motion. R. 8, ll. 4-20. The state argued the Act did not apply because Appellant "is an illegal alien and has no right to be in the country at all much less over there." R. 9, ll. 1-5.⁸ Additionally, the state argued the "evidence will show that there will be a jury issue as to whether or not it was self-defense in this case." R. 9, ll. 5-7.

The evidence

Herbie Evans was the superintendent over the construction site at Belk for Frisch and Associates on August 13, 2014. R. 10, ll. 16-22; R. 13, ll. 16-19. Appellant and Muniz were construction workers and reported to Evans. R. 10, l. 23 – R. 11, l. 1. On August 13, 2014, Evans became aware of a problem between the two men. R. 11, ll. 2-4. Although Appellant spoke very little English, around one o'clock in the afternoon, Appellant reported to Evans that

⁸ Judge Harrington refused to address the state's argument that Appellant was not entitled to immunity under the Act because he was not in the United States legally. According to Judge Harrington, "the statute was indicated to protect all persons," and therefore, Appellant would be entitled to immunity if he satisfied the other statutory requirements.

Muniz was “picking on him and messing with him.” R. 12, ll. 15-23; R. 12, l. 24 – R. 13, l. 3; R. 14, ll. 4-13. Appellant asked Evans to intervene. R. 12, ll. 21-23. Evans did so by speaking with Muniz about his conduct. Specifically, Evans told Muniz that he “would not allow conflict or any problems on the project ... and if there was going to be conflict between any employees that [Evans] would immediately send them home.” R. 13, ll. 8-11. Evans also told Appellant that he would not tolerate conflict at work. R. 14, l. 24 – R. 15, l. 12.

Jose Somosa was also working on the remodeling project at Belk during August of 2014. ~~R. 18, ll. 8-10. He and Appellant had traveled from Richmond, Virginia, for the work. R. 18, ll. 14-17.~~ Somosa, Appellant, and Muniz were staying at a hotel during the construction project. R. 18, ll. 18-22; R. 28, ll. 21-22. During the early part of August, Muniz and Appellant had a physical altercation over a tool. R. 29, ll. 8-16. Appellant had a broom, and Muniz snatched it from him. R. 35, l. 21 – R. 36, l. 1. Then, the two fought, punching each other in the face. R. 36, ll. 2-9.

On August 12, 2014, Muniz, who was yelling at Appellant, took off his shirt and tried to fight Appellant at the hotel. R. 18, l. 23 – R. 19, l. 4; R. 19, ll. 3-12; R. 28, l. 25 – R. 29, l. 3; R. 36, ll. 10-13. However, Appellant refused to fight. R. 19, ll. 9-10; R. 20, ll. 12-13; R. 36, ll. 17-19.

The following day, Somosa and Appellant were framing a wall. R. 20, ll. 17-24. Appellant was up on the ladder while Somosa was on the ground acting as Appellant’s helper. R. 20, l. 25 – R. 21, l. 9. Muniz was in the same area working on the concrete floors. R. 21, ll. 10-11. Every time Muniz passed Appellant, who was standing ten feet off the ground on a ladder, Muniz would taunt him about fighting. R. 21, ll. 12-21; R. 36, l. 24 – R. 37, l. 7. Appellant responded that he did not want any trouble. R. 21, ll. 22-24.

Around 5:30 p.m., Appellant climbed down the ladder to end his workday. R. 22, ll. 3-14. Muniz, who was taller and bigger than Appellant, continued his taunts by suggesting they take it “outside,” but Appellant refused. R. 22, ll. 15-18; R. 24, ll. 15-18. However, Appellant grabbed a pipe, and Muniz grabbed a metal object used for framing. R. 23, ll. 13-17; R. 37, l. 25 – R. 38, l. 4; R. 38, ll. 11-13. The two then “went at each other.” R. 23, l. 17. During the scuffle, Appellant and Muniz dropped their pieces of metal. R. 23, l. 25 – R. 24, l. 2; R. 39, ll. 3-5. Then, “they were grabbing each other.” R. 24, l. 8; R. 39, ll. 6-8; R. 40, ll. 7-8. Appellant grabbed Muniz around his waist, and Muniz grabbed Appellant around his shoulders. R. 24, ll. 11-15. Muniz had his arms around Appellant’s neck. R. 24, l. 20 – R. 25, l. 3. Appellant grabbed his saw from his waist and stabbed Muniz once. R. 25, ll. 5-24. After the stabbing, Muniz released Appellant and ran outside. R. 26, l. 9-23. Somosa was emphatic – Muniz started the fight. R. 27, ll. 2-3.

Appellant testified at the pre-trial hearing as well. He explained that he worked for a construction company in Richmond, Virginia, that was contracted to do work at Belk in Charleston. R. 46, ll. 3-20. About a week before the stabbing, Appellant and Muniz fought when Muniz snatched a broom from him. R. 47, ll. 4-10. On another day, Appellant tried to inform his boss of Muniz’s threats, but the boss was not in his office. R. 47, ll. 17-20. Seizing the opportunity, Muniz first checked to ensure no security cameras were monitoring, and then, he began to assault Appellant. R. 47, l. 25 – R. 48, l. 2. Thereafter, Muniz continued his campaign against Appellant by calling him a “faggot” and threatening to kill him. R. 48, ll. 4-11.

Around 9 a.m. on August 13, 2014, Muniz’s friend and co-worker approached Appellant, getting “on top of him like he wanted to hit” Appellant. R. 49, ll. 10-18. At lunchtime, Appellant went to his boss and asked for help. R. 50, ll. 17-22. Appellant was “terrified, afraid.”

R. 51, ll. 1-3. The boss called attention to it, but Muniz was undeterred. R. 51, ll. 4-9. The threats continued into the afternoon. R. 51, ll. 15-17. While Appellant remained up on the ladder, Muniz threatened him with a pipe. R. 51, ll. 21-25. At the end of the day, Appellant got down from the ladder, and Muniz approached him with a pipe. R. 52, ll. 3-6. Appellant grabbed a pipe as well. R. 52, l. 6. Muniz began his assault. R. 52, ll. 6-7. Muniz struck Appellant on his stomach and his jaw. R. 52, ll. 15-22; Defendant's Exhibit #1.

During the attack, Muniz, who was stronger and taller than Appellant, took the pipe from Appellant. R. 55, ll. 14-23; R. 56, ll. 6-12. Muniz grabbed Petitioner around the neck, strangling him. R. 56, ll. 1-2; R. 56, ll. 13-20; R. 62, ll. 12-14. Appellant had a saw used to cut sheetrock in his tool belt. R. 23, ll. 20-24. Appellant pulled out his saw and stabbed Muniz once. R. 56, ll. 3-5; R. 56, ll. 21-24; R. 57, ll. 2-13. Muniz released Appellant and ran outside. R. 57, ll. 14-20. Still fearful, Appellant left. R. 57, ll. 19-25.

The state presented no witnesses during the immunity hearing. R. 65, ll. 3-10.

Argument on the motion

Trial counsel argued that Appellant was in a place where he had a right to be – his place of business, and therefore, the duty to retreat was not applicable pursuant to the Act. R. 66, ll. 1-14. According to trial counsel, Appellant was not causing any problems with Muniz, but that there was “continual harassment, bullying” by Muniz directed toward Appellant. R. 66, ll. 15-23. In fact, there had been a physical altercation between the two prior to this shooting incident. R. 66, ll. 23-24. Additionally, a co-worker was joining Muniz's harassment of Appellant at Muniz's instigation. R. 66, l. 24 – R. 67, l. 4. During Muniz's threats, Appellant was on top of a ladder – “a very vulnerable position.” R. 67, ll. 5-9. Appellant stood approximately “five foot

three” and was “very small in stature.” R. 67, ll. 9-10. However, Muniz was “about six feet.” R. 67, ll. 10-11.

Muniz was armed with a large piece of metal, which he swung at Appellant. R. 67, ll. 11-13. Appellant also had a piece of metal and there was “a clash of metal” as Appellant tried to defend himself. R. 67, ll. 14-18. Appellant was struck by Muniz’s metal pole and received several injuries, which were documented by the police. R. 67, ll. 14-21. Muniz wrapped his arm around Appellant and began to strangle him. R. 67, l. 25 – R. 68, l. 2. Then, Appellant was forced to pull his saw from his tool belt and stab Muniz. R. 68, ll. 2-5. Only then did Muniz let him go. R. 68, l. 5. According to trial counsel, Appellant testified he was actually afraid and that fear was reasonable because of the difference in sizes and the fact that Muniz’s friend had been threatening earlier in the day. R. 68, ll. 7-23. In conclusion, trial counsel explained Appellant satisfied each element of self-defense except the duty to retreat, which he was not required to satisfy because he was in his place of business. R. 68, l. 23 – R. 69, l. 4.

The prosecutor argued that the case presented a “clear question of fact” based on the testimony of Somosa and Appellant. R. 70, ll. 1-4. According to the prosecutor, Somosa testified to a physical altercation involving a broom and an offer to fight the night before, but “that at no time other than mouthing off at each other at no time was Mr. Muniz armed until he came after him with a pipe in which point he picked up the piece of pipe.” R. 70, ll. 4-10. The prosecutor claimed that both men were unarmed when Appellant stabbed him in the chest and killed him. R. 70, ll. 11-14.

Trial counsel added to her previous argument that despite the fact that the men were unarmed when the fatal blow was struck, the evidence presented showed that Muniz was holding

Appellant around the neck, which placed Appellant at risk of serious bodily harm. R. 71, ll. 1-12.

Ruling on the motion

At the conclusion of the hearing and counsel's arguments, Judge Harrington denied Appellant's request for immunity. According to the judge, in order for the Act to apply, "[t]here must be an absence of aggression." R. 72, ll. 12-14. The judge construed the testimony as showing "there had been a mutual confrontation." R. 72, ll. 16-17. She relied heavily upon Somosa's testimony, which she interpreted to show that Appellant and Muniz "had discarded the tools" and at the time of the stabbing, Muniz was unarmed. R. 72, ll. 17-20. The judge also noted that Somosa "believed" that Muniz and Appellant "were merely wrestling." R. 72, ll. 20-21.

Thus, the judge denied the motion for immunity and concluded the issue of self-defense was for the jury. R. 72, ll. 22-23. According to the judge, "[t]he intent of the Act is for defensive not offensive protections." R. 72, ll. 12-13. The judge explained she did "not believe the testimony [rose] to the level beyond a preponderance of the evidence to grant the immunity designed by the legislature to protect someone from criminal prosecution." R. 72, l. 23 – R. 73, l. 1.

Discussion

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to "codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person's home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person's place of business." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). The General Assembly recognized "that persons

residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate this intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). One of the provisions of the Act provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). During the pretrial hearing, a defendant must set out “a valid case of self-defense must exist,” excluding the duty to retreat prong, “and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity.” Id. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266.

To establish self-defense, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in

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