STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

SEP 15 2017

Appeal from Charleston County

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DENNIS ELVIN CERVANTES-PAVON,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2015-002472

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 68383

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof when multiple witnesses testified Appellant was the initial aggressor, Victim was unarmed when Appellant initiated the combat, and Appellant was not reasonably in fear of his life when Victim threw down his weapon and held Appellant in a non-lethal hold.

Introduction

The court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's request for immunity because the denial was supported by the witness testimony Appellant was the armed initial aggressor against an unarmed man in mutual combat. The statutory scheme under which Appellant sought pretrial immunity is the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 *et seq.* The Act provides, "It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person's home is his castle" S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A) (2006). The South Carolina Supreme Court has concluded "that the legislature intended defendants be shielded from trial if they use deadly force as outlined under the Act. Immunity under the Act is therefore a bar to prosecution and, upon motion of either party, must be decided prior to trial." *Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011). In this case, the court properly denied immunity for three basic reasons. First, Appellant armed himself with two weapons before approaching Victim in a mutual confrontation in which he stabbed Victim with the key hole saw. Second, Victim was unarmed when the two men engaged in the hand-to-hand combat. Third, to the extent the combat was mutual, Victim intended to either wrestle, at best, or engage in a fist fight, at worst, and therefore Appellant did not have a reasonable fear of death or great bodily injury when he stabbed Victim. Indeed, the men had similarly fought days before, with neither suffering any apparent injury.

Standard of Review

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [an appellate court] reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (citing *Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166–67 (2007) (citing *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). Finally, the abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow an appellate court to re-weigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court’s assessment of witness credibility. *State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014)

Analysis

The common law Castle Doctrine provides “[o]ne attacked, without fault on his part, on his own premises, has the right, in establishing his plea of self-defense, to claim immunity from the law of retreat, which ordinarily is an essential element of that defense.” *State v. Gordon*, 128 S.C. 422, 425, 122 S.E. 501, 502 (1924) (citation omitted). In South Carolina, the Legislature codified the Castle Doctrine and extended its reach to include an occupied vehicle and a person’s place of business. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A) (“It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.”). Subsection (C) addresses the use of force by one who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and **who is attacked** in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of

business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, **if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (emphasis added); *see also Curry*, 406 S.C. at 370, 752 S.E.2d at 266 (concluding defendant, who sought immunity under the Act after he fatally shot the victim, was defaulted into S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) where the victim was a social guest and rightfully in the defendant's mother's apartment). In the instant case, Appellant seeks protection pursuant to subsection (C) because the stabbing occurred at the Appellant and Victim's workplace.

In *Curry*, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified that the Act does not require a trial court to accept a defendant's version of the underlying facts. 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. Rather, "[c]onsistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat." *Id.* The four elements required by law to establish self-defense are as follows:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

Curry at 371 n.4, 752 S.E.2d at 266 n.4.

The trial judge's ruling is consistent with the procedure the Supreme Court set forth both in *Curry* and in previous cases dealing with the Act. The trial judge had no obligation to accept Appellant's version of the facts, which even at face value failed to show Appellant was in reasonable fear of imminent danger. Instead, the court properly exercised its discretion to consider the conflicting testimony of the other witnesses and to assess the reenactment of the moments before the stabbing at the hearing. Appellant argues "the undisputed evidence demonstrated ... Muniz as the initial aggressor" and "[t]he undisputed evidence demonstrated that Appellant was not at fault at bringing on the difficulty." (IBOA at p. 17.) However, the record clearly contradicts these assertions. The evidence showed Appellant was not entitled to immunity because Appellant was, in fact, the aggressor, Victim was unarmed, and any belief Appellant had of imminent danger was not reasonable.

Appellant Was the Aggressor

The court succinctly characterized the first prong of the self-defense analysis when she noted the Act does not apply to offensive actions. (R. p. 72, lines 12-13.) In South Carolina, the common law Castle Doctrine is "predicated on the absence of aggression or fault on [the defendant's] part in bringing on the difficulty; the doctrine is for defensive, and not offensive purposes." *State v. Grantham* 224 S.C. 41, 45, 77 S.E.2d 291, 292 (1953); *Curry* at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267. The record reflects the men were undoubtedly arguing verbally, but Appellant escalated the situation into a deadly confrontation when he decided to arm himself then aggressively attack Victim.

Although Supervisor Evans did not witness the fight, Evans did testify there was tension between the two men, so much so that he felt compelled to warn them they would be fired if they continued the workplace bickering. (R. pp. 12-15.) Evans' testimony was corroborated at trial by

that of Victim's father, Rafael Puentes. Puentes said the men had been arguing for days before the fatal stabbing, but according to Puentes, it was Appellant who continuously insulted Victim, calling him names because Appellant had bested Victim in a fistfight days before. (R. pp. 199-205.)

Somosa's testimony was compelling. Somosa, who was Appellant's helper on the job, was called by the defense at the hearing and was presumably biased in Appellant's favor, yet his testimony clearly described how Appellant, fed up with the verbal bickering, decided to take matters into his own hands. (R. pp. 18-36.) Somosa described how Victim asked Appellant to fight on numerous occasions, but, significantly, Victim would not actually engage in any fighting when Appellant did not agree to it. Somosa said the night before the stabbing, Victim took off his shirt, apparently indicating he wanted to fight. Appellant simply ignored him and Victim left him alone. (R. pp. 18-36) The next day, Somosa claimed Victim would walk by Appellant and ask him to fight, but Somosa also testified Appellant climbed down from his ladder at lunch time, and no incident occurred. (R. pp. 20-22.) Even interpreting the testimony in the light most favorable to Appellant, the Victim's repeated requests to fight could be ignored without repercussion.

However, instead of ignoring Victim, Appellant became angry. Somosa said Appellant grew tired of Victim's taunts, so at the end of the day, he descended the ladder, went over to his tools, and armed himself with the keyhole saw and a pipe. (R. p. 23.) Until that point, no evidence showed either man had ever used a weapon against the other. At worst, the men had fought with their bare hands in the recent past, and neither man was significantly injured.⁵ Appellant's action, in arming himself with the keyhole saw and pipe, aggressively changed the

⁵ No witness testified the men suffered any injury in the previous fight, and both men were capable of working in their respective work areas when the fatal stabbing occurred.

nature of the confrontation from taunting and bickering to deadly combat. Appellant, who was dragging the pipe with the saw concealed under his shirt in the waistband of his pants, advanced toward Victim and then swung the pipe at him. (R. pp. 23-26; pp. 38-41.) Appellant crossed approximately fifteen to twenty feet of work area to attack Victim near the Victim's cement mixer. (R. p. 38, lines 16-24.)

Samosa's testimony was corroborated at trial by multiple witnesses. Travis Flowers, who was more friendly with Victim than Appellant, but who only had a working relationship with Victim, heard the men bickering back and forth that day, and then later saw Appellant climb down from his ladder, start toward Victim with a pipe, then stop and return to his work area where he removed his tool belt, but reached down for the keyhole saw. (R. pp. 117-124.) Flowers saw Appellant cross a span of approximately twenty feet to reach Victim, where he then swung the pipe at him. (R. p. 123.) According to Flowers, Victim only acted defensively by picking up a pipe to defend himself then using it to disarm Appellant of his pipe. (R. p. 151, lines 13-24.) Jeremiah Oxendine also corroborated Samosa's testimony. Oxendine saw Appellant bend down near the tools in his work area, grab the keyhole saw and conceal it in his waistband under his shirt. (R. pp. 163-164.) Oxendine saw Appellant approach Victim, who was standing by his cement mixer. (R. p. 164, lines 8-19.) Oxendine also only saw Victim swing his pipe defensively, in an effort to knock down Appellant's pipe. (R. p. 178.) Another witness, Ronnie Hunt, also testified he saw Appellant first swing his pipe at Victim. (R. pp. 187-189.)

All of the witnesses' testimony, with the exception of Appellant's, was consistent. The evidence shows Appellant acted first, sought out Victim from across the room, and was disproportionately violent in his actions. While Victim may have expected and perhaps even agreed to some form of mutual combat, nothing about the men's history suggested the fight

would be deadly. Regardless of who started the bickering on the day of the stabbing, Appellant began the physical confrontation that led to Victim's death. The outcome is solely attributable to Appellant's actions, and he cannot claim immunity under the Act.

Even if this Court finds Appellant was not the aggressor, the evidence shows Appellant at a minimum engaged in mutual combat with Victim. To constitute mutual combat, there must exist a mutual intent and willingness to fight, which is manifested by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances attending and leading up to the combat. *State v. Graham*, 260 S.C. 449, 196 S.E.2d 495 (1973). Additionally, whether or not mutual combat exists is significant because the plea of self-defense is not available to one who kills another in mutual combat. *Id.* at 450, 196 S.E.2d at 495. Because mutual combat requires mutual intent and willingness to fight, if a defendant is found to have been involved in mutual combat, the "no fault" element of self-defense cannot be established. *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003). Thus, Appellant, as a participant in mutual combat, cannot claim to be "attacked" pursuant to §16-11-440 (C).

In the instant case, the evidence shows Appellant consented to the fight at the end of the shift, and he cannot show he was attacked by Appellant. However, even if this Court finds that the term "attack" is ambiguous and further determines that the pretrial court abused its discretion in denying immunity on that basis, Appellant is still not entitled to relief because the pretrial court denied Appellant's immunity on other grounds. In particular, the pretrial court concluded that Appellant had not met his burden of showing by a preponderance of the evidence that he was reasonably in fear of death or great bodily injury when he stabbed Victim. The record supports the pretrial court's determination.

Victim was Unarmed

In addition to the testimony showing Appellant aggressively approached Victim with two weapons, the evidence also showed Victim attempted to diffuse the situation by apparently disarming Appellant and tossing aside his own weapon before engaging in hand-to-hand fighting.

Thus, not only was Victim unarmed when Appellant started toward him, he was unarmed when the men began fighting. Recently the South Carolina Supreme Court found in *State v. Manning*, Opinion No. 27664, filed September 7, 2016, 2016 WL 4658956 (S.C. Sept. 7, 2016), the trial did not court abuse its discretion in denying the defendant immunity solely because the victim was unarmed. In *Manning*, the trial court only considered the statement given by the defendant he shot his girlfriend in self-defense after she started toward him. *Id.* The Court said the trial court considered all that was necessarily to make the immunity determination when the uncontroverted evidence showed the victim was unarmed. *Id.* Similarly, in the case at hand, Victim was unarmed when he was stabbed, and this fact alone supports the trial court's discretion to deny immunity.

Both Samosa and Appellant testified the men were no longer holding pipes when they began hand-to-hand combat. Samosa told the court Victim "threw" his pipe before the men began "grabbing each other." (R. p. 24, lines 2-8.) Samosa also told police Victim was unarmed when the men began wrestling. (R. p. 41, lines 17-20.) Even Appellant testified at the pre-trial hearing Victim "tossed [the pipe] away from" him before grabbing him by the neck. (R. p. 56, lines 1-2.)

This testimony was supported at trial by Flowers, Oxendine, and Hunt, who witnessed the attack. Flowers described Victim as trying to "block" Appellant's blows with the pipe before he

was able to “pin his sprinkler pipe on the ground” before the men fought. (R. p. 123, line 25 – p. 124, line 6.) Oxendine confirmed Victim used his pipe to “block” Appellant’s blows before “they dropped the metal.” (R. p. 165, lines 7-15.) Ronnie Hunt also confirmed Victim “blocked” Appellant’s blows, then “they scuffled a little bit and locked up with each other.” (R. p. 188, lines 9-15.)

Interestingly, Somosa also testified at the pre-trial hearing Appellant stopped to take off his tool belt before attacking Victim. (R. p. 38, lines 5-10.) Samosa saw Appellant pick up the keyhole saw and later pull it out of his waistband to stab Victim. (R. p. 40, lines 13-20.) Travis Flowers would later described the moments before the exchange with the following testimony:

Mr. Pavon, he stopped about halfway to Mr. Muniz and he went back to his ladder and he propped his sprinkler pipe up and he took off his tool belt and set it on the ground.

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